IN THE UNITED STATES BANKRUPTCY COURT FOR THE
EASTERN DISTRICT OF TENNESSEE

In re
WILLIAM BRADY TIMBS- ) Case No. 93-385222
a/k/a BILL TIMBS ) Chapter 7

REBRECCA LYNN TIMBS )
a/k/a REBECCA LYNN GROSS )

Debtors

MEMORANDUM
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This case came before the court for hearing cn May 17,
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upon the debtors’ motion filed April 20, 1994, requesting an
finding that attorney David Lufkin "has willfully

- -

autcmatic stay of 11 U.

[

.C. §8 362(a), thereby committing civil

contempt." This is a core proceeding. 28 U.S.C. § 157(b) (1) and
L p S

[

(b) (2) (0). See In re Depew, 51 B.R. 1010, 1014 (Bankr. E.D. Tenn.

L
The facts of this case are not in dispute. The debtors filed
for relief under Chapter 7 of the Bankruptcy Code on December 30,
1993, and thereupon, the automatic stay provided by 11 U.S.C. §
362 (a) went into effect. Prior to the bankruptcy filing on October
11, 1993, Northside Hospital ("Northside"), represented by David A.

Lufkin, P.C., obtained a default judgment against the debtors in



ETT T Therearcer, David A. Zufkin, =z.C.,
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the amount cf S1
applied to the Carter County clerk and master

axecution, and commencing cn or abcut DJecember 13, 1393, Zeptcr

ecca Timbs’ wages were garnished :in the bi-weekly amount oI
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$164.40 in execution cf the judgment.
Northside and attorney David A. Lufkin were listed cn the
mailing matrix and on Schedule F, Creditors Holding Unsecured Non-

Priority Claims, filed by the debtors along with their bankruptcy
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ectition. On January 5, 1994, the clerk of the court notifieqd al
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re and parties in interest, including Mr. Lufkin and
Northside, of the debtors’ bankruptcy Ziling. Mr. Lufkin received
notice of the bankruptcy filing and advised the collection ccmpany,
by whom he was employed to collect this debt, of the debtors
pending bankruptcy by letter dated January 19, 1994.

Despite notice of the bankruptcy Ziling to Northside ana Mr.
Tufkin, the garnishment of Rebecca Timbs’ wages continued
postpetition with Mrs. Timbs’ wages reing garnished on or about
January 5, January 19, February 2 and February 16, 1994. When Mr.
Lufkin refused to take any action to stop the garnishment despite
several telephone calls to his office by debtors’ attorney
requesting that steps be taken to stop the garnishment, debtors
filed a motion on March 3, 1994, requesting a finding that
Northside had willfully vioclated the automatic stay by failing to
stop the garnishment. Mr. Lufkin on behalf of Northside filed a
response in which he conceded that the facts as represented in the

motion were accurate, but requested that the court summarily rule



on the motizn without =z nearing. My Lufkin
respcnse that neither he nor Northside was "reqguired to take any
affirmative act" such as tendering an crder or release —c the stats

courz to stcp the garnishment process aiter receiving notice oI che

bankruptcy.

In a memorandum opinion entered March 21, 1994, the court
ruled that Northside had willfully violated the automatic stay by
failing to take any action to stop the continuing postretiticn

—k

garn:ishment groceeding against Mrs. Timbs despite having notics oI

the rankruptcy and the repeated demands of debteors’ counsel. The
cour:z then set a hearing for April 26, 1994, in order to ZIix
damaces and determine appropriate relief. However, zrior tc the
hear:ng on damages, on April 20, 1994, debtors filed the present

moticn requesting that Northside’s attcrney, David Luifkin, be Zound
to nave willfully violated the autcmatic stay because of iis
inaccion with respect to the garnishment. In this motion, the
debtcrs addressed not only the four garnishment episcces which were
the subject of the court’s previous ruling, but additicnally
alleged that debtor Rebecca Timbs’ wages had since been garnished
on four more occasions, March 2, March 16, March 30 and April 13.
The court set that motion for an expedited hearing, to coincide
with the hearing on the determination of damages on debtors’ first
motion, for the sole purpose of addressing the continuation of the
garnishment.

At the April 26, 1994 hearing, Mr. Lufkin, on behalf of

Northside, continued to argue that Northside was not in violation



~he autcmatic stay because it did not "do anything" with respect

(@]
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to the garnishment after the filing of the bankruptcy case, anc

that it had no ocbligation to take any steps o stcecp <the

rarnishment, asserting zhat this was the responsiki_ity cI tze

debtcrs and zhelr attorney. After hearing procf cn the damages

sustained by che debtors as a result cf the garnishmencs, the ccour:c
awarded the debtors a judgment agairnst Northside in the amount c:Z
$797.26 in ccmpensatory damages plus $835.00 in attorney fees and

$2,200.00 in punitive damages. The court found that Northside's

failure to hralt the garnishment despite the request of debtors

counsel that it be stopped was particularly earegicus, noting inter

alia, Mr. Lufkin’s failure to engage in any legal research cn toe
issue, but instead choosing to rely upon his "15 years cI

" This court cbserved that even minimal rasearch would

ol 5 T

have revealed that the cocurts have widely held that a creditor has

-

an affirmacive duty to dismiss a garnishment upon learning orf the
bankruptcy. See May 4, 1994 memorandum opinion citing Ledfeord V.
Tiedge (Matter of Sams), 106 B.R. 485 (Bankr. S.D. Chio 1989); In
re Dungey, 9% B.R. 814 (Bankr. S.D. Ohio:1989); Mitchelil v. Quality
Plant Service, Inc. (In re Mitchell), 66 B.R. 73 (Bankr. S.D. Ohio
1986) ; Summerlin v. Outlaw (In re Outlaw), 66 B.R. 413 (Bankr.
E.D.N.C. 1986); O’Connor v. Methodist Hospital of Jonesboro, Inc.
(In re O’Ccnnor), 42 B.R. 390 (Bankr. E.D. Ark. 1984); Dennis v.
Pentagon Fed. Credit Union (Matter of Dennis), 17 B.R. 558 (Bankr.

M.D. Ga. 1982); Elder v. City of Thomasville, Georgia (In re

Elder), 12 B.R. 491 (Bankr. M.D. Ga. 1981). The court warned



Northside that any future garnishments of Mrs. Timbs’ wages wculcd
result in additional punitive damages being 1imposed. The ccurt
direcred that a hearing <2 the motion against Mr. LuIliin

individually would be held cn May 17, 1994, and stated thact the

ccurz would ccnsider additional relief against Nortihside 1Z the
garnishment continued. Subsegquently, Mr. Lufkin tendered tc :the

state court chancellor an order terminating the garnishment, wnich
order was entered by the chancellor on May 5, 1994, tut not keZore
Mrs. Timbs’ wages were again garnishez on April 27, 1894, anc on
May 21, 1994.-

At the May 17, 1994 hearing, attorney Nelwyn Rhcdes appeared
and advised :zhe court that she had peen retained O 1
Northside, that Mr. Lufkin’s representation on behalf cf Nortiside
had reen terminated and that Northside would taxe 3steps
immediately insure that all garn.shed funds were remitted tc :the
debtcrs. In a report filed by Northside on May 23, 1994, Ms.
Rhodes represented on behalf of Northside that a check in the
amc.nt of $1,544.00, the total amounts garnished frcm Mrs. Timbs’
wages, had been delivered tc the debtors’ attorney.

The issue before this court 1is whether M¥r. Lufkin,
individually, should be found to have willfully violated the

automatic stay because of his failure to stop the garnishment

resulting in Mrs. Timbs’ wages being garnished postpetition. The

‘Although the testimony was not clear, it appears that Mrs.
Timbs’ employer did not receive notice of the order terminating the
garnishment in time to prevent it from deducting the garniskment
amount from Mrs. Timbs’ wages on May 11, 1994.

5



debtors contend thar My, Zufkin individually had a duty to stcp che

garnishment once he received notice of the debtors’ bankruptcy

bpecause as Northside’s attorney, ne nad initiated the garnisnmen

crcceedings. The debtors maintain that Mr. Lufkin’s fzilure tc ac

was a willful violation of the automatic stay, subjecting =zim tc

liapility for damages including punitive damages, and assert that

-

his continued failure to act after the court entered its Marcn Z1,

1994 corder was a "willful, Zflagrant and brazen disregard oI Zzoth

L

the crder of this court and 11 U.S.C. § 362(a) (1)."

moticn on May 17, 1994, Mr. Lufkin continued to deny cthat =

-

mative duty posctpetiticn to
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step a garnishment which was initiated prepetition.

L

Mr. Zufkin has raised various legal arguments as toc wih
against him individually is not appropriate. For the reascns set
forth below, zhe court concludes that Mr. Lufkin’s legal defenses

are without merit.

IT.

Initially, Mr. Lufkin contends that he individually is not
before the court, because "he individually and personally has never
made an appearance in this matter, even as an attorney practicing
before this court." He maintains that he practices law as David A.
Lufkin, P.C., a professional corporation, and that Northside has

been represented in this matter by the corporation.

Rule 9011 of the Federal Rules of Bankruptcy Procedure



requires that every "paper served or filed in a case under the Coade

Uiz
on behalf of a party represented by an attorney ... shall be signed
by at least cne attorney of record In the
name ...." (emphasis supplied). Mr. Lufkin has filed the Zfoll
papers in this case: the response on behalf of Northside Hospital
on March 1, 1894; téé notice cf filing of affidavit filed cn March
14, 2994%; a motion for leave to appeal together with a notice of

1, 1%94: the motion to set aside anc

Lad

appeal filed on March
response to debtors’ second motion filed on May 5, 1994; the seconc

notice of appeal filed on May 11, 1994; and the motion for stay

pending appeal filed May 11, 1994 Some of these rapers were
signed by Mr. Lufkin both as "David A. Lufkin, P.C." zand as "Davicd
A. Lufkin, individually for purposes of TRCP 11 [sic] cnly;" the

balance were signed by Mr. Lufkin solely as "David A. Lufkin, 2.C."

Because the conly signature of an attorney on these particular

ot
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papers® is that of Mr. Lufkin, and the papers were submit
to the clerk for filing, the court deems those documents to have

teen siagned bv Mr. Lufkin individually as required by F=D. R. BANKR.
¥ i

‘while not determinative, the court notes that both the March
1, 1994 response and the March 14, 1994 notice of filing oL

affidavit begin "[c]omes David A. Lufkin, Attorney for Northside
Hospital ...."

The writ of execution and the transmittal letter transmitting
the writ to the Clerk and Master of Carter County Chancery Court
were signed by Thomas R. Henley, on behalf of David A. Lufkin, P.C.
However, there is no evidence that Mr. Henley took any further
action in this matter and it is undisputed that Mr. Lufkin was the
attorney notified of the bankruptcy, he was the attorney to whom
debtors’ attorney directed his request that the garnishment be
stopped, and he was the attorney who refused to stcp the

garnishment.
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Turthermore, the Tennessee Professional Corporation Act che
"Act"), under which the sentity oi David A. Lurtkin, 2.C., s

rofessional corporation renders

D)

incorporated, provides that =z

ofessional services® only through licensed individuals. See T:ziwN.

CODE ANN. § 48-3-607 (1993). The Act further provides that "lejach
individual who renders professional services as an employee cI &

domestic or foreign professicnal corporation is liable
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individual’s own negligent or wrongful acts or omissions <o the

same extent as if that individual rendered the services as a sole
practitioner."” See T:zNN. CopE ANN. § 48-3-621(a) 28l .
Acceordingly, it matters not whether Mr. Lufkin practices law as an

individual or only through the entity of David A. Lufkin, 2.C. I=E
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Mr. _ufkin, either individually or acting through his corp
is found to have willfully wviolated the automatic stay, 2e Ls
liable to the same extent as if he violated the automatic stay as
a sole practitioner. The existence of his professional corporation
can not serve to insulate Mr. Lufkin personally £rom his own
actions and inacticns in this matter.

Additionally, Mr. Lufkin asserts that neither he personally
nor David A. Lufkin, P.C., has been served with any process. This

same issue was raised by Mr. Lufkin on behalf of Northside in a

inprofessional service" is defined under the Act as "a service
that may be lawfully rendered only by a person licensed or
otherwise authorized by a licensing authority in this state to
render the service, and that may not be lawfully rendered by a
corporation under the Tennessee Business Corporation Act." TENN. CODE

ANN. § 48-3-603(7) (1993).



he ccurt'’s March 21, -99%94 order. As rulsd iz

T

moticn to set aside
~he memorandum and order =ntered on May 3, 1994, denying =
moticn, the court
the contrary. A certificate of service attached to the debtors

motiocn of April 20, 1994, evidences that on April 20, 2994, ccpies

%

of the motion were appropriately served by first class mail upc

David A. Lufkin, Attorney at Law, in accordance with F=D. R. Z3ANKR.

P. 3014 and 7004 (b) (1).

“n fact, Mr. Lufkin does not deny that he was served with 3
copy of the motion. Instead, he asserts that this matter cculc

iling of a ccomplaint and that

I

have only been commenced cy the
since no complaint has bpeen filed, the court lacks perscna.l
jurisdiction over him. Mr. Lufkin maintains that this s

roceeding to recover money or property® which under Rule 7001° <
“he Faderal Rules of Bankruptcy Procedure must be commenced cy the

filing of a complaint rather than a motion. See FED. R. BANKR. =.

7003 incorporating Fep., R. Cmv. P. 3.

The first sentence of the present moticn recites that debtors
seek "an order finding that David A [sic] Lufkin has willfully

violated the automatic stay of 11 U.S.C. § 362(a) ...." In their

*Mr. Lufkin asserted at the May 17 hearing that the wages
garnished postpetition were property of the estate and that
therefore, this was an action to recover property of the estate.
However, it is clear under 11 U.S.C. § 541(a) (6) that postpetition
earned income of a chapter 7 debtor is not property of the estate.
See In re Passmore, 156 B.R. 595, 598 (Bankr. E.D. Wis. 1993).

suAn adversary proceeding is governed by the rules of this
Part VII. It is a proceeding (1) to recover money Or property

." Fep. R. BanNkr. P. 7001(1).



regquest that the court impcse sanctions

for the violation, including the reimbursement of funds garnished

and cther compensatory and runitive damages. 11 U.S.C. 3 352(h)
provides that an individual injured by any willful violaticn c¢f the

§ 362 stay shall zxrecover actual damages and in appropriate
rcumstances, puni&ﬁve damages. This subsection, which Is ti
remedy provision for a violation of the stay, was added to cthe
Bankruptcy Ccde as a part of the Bankruptcy Amendments and Federal
Judgeship Act of 1984. Neither the legislative nistory =o the
enactment nor the Ccde itself gives any guidance as to whether

cticns under § 362(h) must be brought as adversary prcceedinds

4}]

which are initiated by the filing of a complaint, see FzDp. X. 3ANKR.

z

7003, or as contested matters wherein relief is sought 2V

he|

moticn. See Fep. R. 3aNkr. P, 2014.
The courts that have expressly considered ths Issue nave

unanimously concluded that these actions may be brought by moticn

213; 215-316

rather than by complaint. See In re Price, 134 B.R.
(Bankr. N.D. Ill. 1891); In re Hooker Investments, Inc., 116 2.R.
375, 378 (Bankr. S.D.N.Y. 1990); In re Forty-Five Fifty-Five, Inc.,
111 B.R. 920, 922 (Bankr. D. Mont. 1990); In re Karsh Travel, Inc.,
102 B.R. 778, 780-81 (N.D. Cal. 1989), appeal dismissed, vacated in
part as moot, Karsh Travel, Inc. v. Airlines Reporting Corp., 942
F.2d 792 (9th Cir. 1991); In re Zumbrun, 88 B.R. 250, 252 (9th Cir.

B.A.P. 1988). See also DavID G. EPSTEIN, STEVE H. NICKLES & JAMES J.

WHITE, BANKRUPTCY § 3-33 (1992) (damages pursuant to § 362 (h) are

"Pub. L. No. 98-353 (1984).

10



See, =.g., 3udget Service Co. v. 3Better Homes of Virginia, Inc.,
804 7.2d 289 (4th Cir. 1986); In re Dencklau, 158 B.R. 796 \Zankr.
N.D. Towa 1993);: In re McGinty, 113 B.R. 290 (Bankr. M.D. Fla.

1590); In re Dungey, 99 B.R. at 815; Matter of Mullarkey, 81 3.RK.

.R. at 1014.

[v8}

280 (Bankr. Z. N.J. 1987); In re Depew, 51
Although the damages sought by the debtors Include cthe

very of money cr property in the form of garnished wages, al.

)
(D
0
O

actions to rscover damages for willful violations of the autcmatic
stay could technically be construed as "proceedings to xrscover
money or property" and thus, under FED. R. BaNkr. P. 7001(1), would

ke regquired o be brought as an adversary proceeding. However,

this court is unpersuaded that Fep. R. BANKR. P. 7001(1) should ke
read so broadly and is not convinced that the numerous courts whickh
ha = ruled =that such matters may be brought by moticn are
incorrect.

Moreover, even where there is merit to the argument chat a
certain matter must be brought within the context of an adversary
proceeding rather than as a contested matter, courts have allowed
the matter to proceed on the merits as originally filed where the
rights of the affected parties have been adequately protected so
that no prejudice has arisen, refusing to elevate form over

substance. See In re Zumbrum, 88 B.R. at 252 ("the same due

process requirements are applicable to both Bankruptcy Rules 7004

11



znd %014") See also In ¥4 Forty-Five Fifcsy-Fiwve, Ing., =11 2.RE
at 922-23; In re Ccmmand Services Corp., .02 B.R. 905, 208 {Bankr.
M.D.N.¥. 19289)

althougn this <courc goncludes zhat this =matter was

apprcpriately brought as a motion and that 1t was not nscessary Ior
the debtors to file a complaint initiating an adversary proceeding,

here is no evidence that Mr. Lufkin suffered any prejudice arising

or

the type of proceeding held because he was fully presented

0
H

ut o

with =he opportunity to defend himself con the merits cf :his

matter. Mr. Lufkin does not deny that he was served with ths
moticn by first class mail, the same method by which a ccmplaint
and summons may be served.? Mr. Lufkin was given the opportunity

py the court to file a response to the motion and an evidentlary

hearing on the moticn was held wherein Mr. Lufkin was given the
opportunity tc present witnesses on his benalf. Mr, Lufkin did

assertc at the hearing that he had not had an cpportunity to cdepose
“he debtors’ witnesses because this matter was brought by motion
rather than by complaint, suggesting that discovery procedures are
not available to parties within the context of a contested matter
and are reserved exclusively for litigation in an adversary
proceeding. While Feo. R. BaNKkR. P. 9014 does provide a more
expedited framework for concluding disputed matters, portions of

Part VII of the Bankruptcy Rules, including the rules providing for

discovery, are explicitly applicable to contested matters and the

‘FEp. R. BANKR. 2. 9014 requires that "[t]he motion shall be

served in the manner provided for service of a summons and
complaint by Rule 7004 ...."

12



palance o¢f =-he D2arc 7II rules are utilizable &t zhe :zourt’s
discretion See FEp. R. 3ANKR. 2. %014; In re Command Services, .02
B.R. at 808 Thus, the fact that this macter was prought as =

Mr. Lufkin due process.

Mr. Lufkin nexg asserts that he "knows of no law that would
support a personal action against him Dby moticn Zor | his
representation or lack thereof, [sic] for his own client In a
bankruptcy case." Contrary to Mr. Lufkin’s assertion, th are
numerous instances in which attorneys have been found <o have
violated the autcmatic stay as a result of their acticns or
cmissions c¢n behalf of their client and have been sanctioned

ccordingly. See Stainten v. Lee (In re Stainton), 139 B.X. 232,

-

34 (9th Cir. B.A.P. 1992) (counsel and creditor/client sanctiocned

(o]

(b

Zor violating stay by vproceeding with detainer action In stat
court after pankruptcy £iling); Zick v. Zick (In re Zick), 123 B.R.
825, 826 (Bankr. E.D. Wis. 1990) (attorney and client sanctioned
for postpetition filing of modification of property division in
state court in violation of stay); In re McGinty, 119 B.R. at 29é&
(attorney violated stay by seeking additional spousal support for
client after receiving notice of bankruptcy); In re Hooker
Investments, Inc., 116 B.R. at 383 (attorney but not client
sanctioned for substituting party plaintiff in state court
proceeding in violation of the stay); Matter of Sams, 106 B.R. at

490 (attorney and creditor/client sanctioned for vioclating stay by

not taking any action to stop sheriff’s postpetition foreclosure

13



ale which they had put into motion prepetiticn); In re Zumbrum, 38

471

3.R. at 251 fattorney sanctioned fcor vostpetition f£ili:
court lawsui:z on behalf cf client in violaticn of stay); Dubin v.
Jakobowski ‘'In re Stephen W. Grosse, P.C.,, 84 3B.R. 377, 23284

(Bankr. =.D. Za. 1988), aff’d, 96 B.R. 29 (E.D. Pa. 1989), aif

879 ©.24 856 (3rd Cir. .989), cert. denied, 493 U.S. 276 (12589)

=

(attorney’s failure to dissolve writ of execution after court Zound
client/credicor in contempt for failure to do so upon bankruptcy

£iling justified additicnal sanctions against attorney); Mattsr cr

s B OO 2 R

at 284-85 (attorneys but not creditor/client

i

Mullarkey, 81 B.

m
i
o
’_1
o

sanctioned fcr directing sheriff to proceed with foreclosur

in violation of stay); Iz re Crabtree, 60 B.R. 147, 150 (Bankr.
E.D. Tenn. .586) (law Zirm, its named partner and local counsel

sanctioned for vieclating automatic stay by cbtaining restraining

order); In xre Demp, 23 B.R. 239, 240 (Bankr. E.D. Pa. 1282)
(creditor/client and ccunsel sanctioned for wviolating autcmatic

operty posted for sheriff’s sale); Bailey

H

v. Bailey (Matter of Bailey), 20 B.R. 906, 213 (Bankr. W.D. Wis.
1982) (attorney but not creditor/client sanctioned for securing
lien on debtor’s homestead in violation of stay). See also J.
Scott Humphrey, Comment, Sanctions Against t..e Creditor’s Attcrney
in Non-Reorganization Bankruptcy Proceedings, 6 BANKR. DeEv. J. 481
(Fall 1989) ; EpSTEIN, supra, ("Damages are recoverable under § 362 (h)
from any entity responsible for the violation Significantly,

the people accountable include not only the person whose actions

violated the stay, but also people who counselled or aided the

14



‘necliuding :the actor’s lawyer.'). These <cases an

additional auchorities ungquestionably establish that actorneys are

ave viclated the autcmatic stay cI

not immune Irzcm being fcund to n

i —Reilr

§ 3262 simply because their actions were taken by them in ctXelr
representative capacity as attorney fcr a client. Accordingly,

this argumenz is likewise without merit.

III.

The court having fcund that Mr. Lufkin’s legal defenses are

L S £

insufficient to bar debtors’ motion, the court will proceed wit
consideraticn of the merits of the motion. With respect tc the
first four episodes of the postpetition garnishment which were the

the debtors’ Zirst motion against Norths_de, the court

has already ruled that Northside’s failure tc stop the garnishment
it recsived notica of debtors’ krankruptcy ZIiling was &
vioclation of the autcmatic stay. Although Mr. Lufkin was privy to
the first motion as the attorney of record for Northside and 1t was
upon his advice that Northside relied in refusing to stop the
garnishment, che debtors did not request in their first motion that
Mr. Lufkin ke sanctioned for his own personal failure with respect
to the first four garnishment episodes, and the court having
already ruled thereupon, declines to revisit that particular issue.
In short, the court finds that the debtors are now collaterally
estopped from raising the identical issue as was before the court

on their first motion. See Spilman v. Harley, 656 F.2d 224, 228

(6th Cir. 1981) (if the precise issue raised in later proceeding

=

15



was _itigated in a Zcrmer proceeding oy tl garties or =z—aeix

privies, collateral estcprel bars the relitigation of the Issue);

Sanders Confectionery Frcducts, Inc. v. Heller Financial, Inc., 273

7,28 474, 481 (6th Cir. 1992), cert. denied, 13 B.CE. Lg4s
(1992), rehearing denied, 213 S.Ct. 1528 (1993) for claim sna

issue preclusion, privity means a successor in interest zo th
party, one who controlled the earlier action, or one wnose
interests were adequately represented).

With respect to the remaining garnishment episcdes, nhowever,
this court ccncludes that Mr. Lufkin, individually, violatea the
automatic stay when he failed to stop the postpetition garnisihment
of Mrs. Timbs’ wages. As noted earlier, the courts have widely
held that a creditor has an affirmative duty to halt all collescticn

efforts, including garnishments which were set into moticn

Py

orepetition, once the creditor receives notice of the bankruptc:

filing. As stated by cne court:
Part of what is stayed in 11 U.S.C. § 362 is
"continuation."? Garnishment involves a
creditor, a garnishee, and a court. Creditor
sets 1in motion the process. Creditor is in
the driver’s seat and very much contrcls what
is done thereafter if it chooses. If the
"continuation" 1s to be stayed, it cannot
choose to do nothing and pass the buck to th
garnishee or the court in which the
garnishment is filed to effectuate the stay.
Positive action on the part of the creditor is
necessary so that “"continuation" may be

®1]1 U.S.C. § 362(a) (1) provides in material part that the
filing of a petition operates as a stay of "the commencement or

continuation ... of a judicial, administrative, or other action or
proceeding against the debtor that was or could have been commenced
before the commencement of a case under this title ...." (emphasis
supplied) .

16



case on point, with

|4y

court, the bankruptcy =zourt in In re Dennis held cthat when
creditor’s attorney is notified of the institution of a bankruptcy
proceeding, he has an affirmative duty to dismiss the garnishment.

As stated by the court:

Section 362 prohibits commencement cr
continuation cf the garnishment proceeding and
the [creditor’s] attorney, upon notification
as to the filing in bankruptcy, 1is charged
with knowledge that he may no longer proceed
with the garnishment proceeding. He is the

one who caused the garnishment proceeding to
e filed, and he is the one who must see that
it is dismissed. As an officer of the Courc,
he is duty kcund to see that the law 1s
enforced, and he thus has an affirmative cuty
to stop the garnishment proceeding throuch
dismissal.
In »= Dennis, 17 B.R., at 560. The court in Dennis rejected tIhe
argument made by the creditor’s attorney that he failed to dismiss
the garnishment on the belief any affirmative steps would be a
violation of the stay, noting that this belief was incorrect and

that, in fact, it was this very refusal which caused a violation of
the stay. Id. at 561.

Similarly, in the more recent case of Matter of Sams, the
court found an affirmative duty on the part of the attorney,
concluding that the judgment creditor and his attorney violated the
automatic stay by failing to stop a foreclosure sale which had been

commenced prepetition once the creditor and his attorney had actual

17



xnowledge of zhe bankruptcy filing. Jee Matter cr Sams, 105 2.R
at 4%0. As in the present case, The creditor and nis atcctcrney

argued that it was the debtor or the trustee’s responsibilicy

halt rending collection acticns and that if the creditor cr :

rney had taken any action to stop the sale, Zhey would zave

0

att
been viclated the "autcmatic stay. The court rejected zhese
arguments stating that they "strain the boundaries of logic and the
limits of advocacy." Id. The court noted that this responsibility
is placed on the creditor and not on the debtor or truscee because:

[T]o place the onus on the debtor, ... to take
affirmative legal steps to recover property
seized in violation of the stay would subject
the debtor to the financial pressures the
autcmatic stay was designed to temporarily
abate, and render the contemplated breathing
spell from his creditors illusory.

Id., quoting In re Miller, 22 B.R. 479, 481 (D. #4d. 1982). See
also In re Stephen W. Grcsse, P.C., 84 B.R. at 384 (attocrnev Ior

ct
O
3

the creditor Zound in contempt for failing to stop garnishmen
the debtor’s bank account).

Mr. Lufkin contends that the court should find no vioclation of
the automatic stay because he in good faith did not understand the
law, that the law has changed since he was in law school, and that
in his 15 years of practice, this issue has never arisen even
though he has a high volume collection practice. However, the
courts are unanimous in their conclusion that a good faith mistake
of the law, a legitimate dispute as to legal rights or even good
faith reliance on an attorney’s advice do not relieve a willful

violator from the consequences of his act. See EPSTEIN, supra, and

18



cases cited therein.

In Mullarkey, the court found that the attorney, who after ch
e of the bankruptcvy Ziling directed the sherifZ to proceed
with the foreclosure sale, nad violated the autcmatlic stay sven
chough the attorney believed, based on his understanding ci tle
law, that the propéfty involved was not property of the estate.
Matter of Mullarkey, 81 2.R. at 284. As stated by the court in
Mullarkey, whether or nct the attorney believed his actions were
justified is of no conseguence, all that is necessary to trigger

section 362(h) sanctions is a willful act or willful failure in

b=}

a

violation of the stay. Id. The willfulness requirement refers
the deliberateness of :the conduct and the knowledge o

bankruptey £iling, not tc a specific intent to vicliate a court

order. Temlock v. Falls Eldg. Ltd. (In re Falls Bldg. Ltd.), 24
R.R. 271, 481-82 (Bankr. Z.D. Tenn. 1988), guoting Wagner v. Ivory
(In r= Wagner), 74 B.R. 398, 903 (Bankr. E.D. Pa. 1287). 1In the

present case it is clear that despite his knowledge of the
bankruptcy filing, Mr. Lufkin deliberately chose to take no action
to stop the garnishment which he had put in place. This failure,
regardless of any alleged lack of bad faith, was a willful
violation of the automatic stay of § 362 (a) (1).

Having concluded that Mr. Lufkin willfully violated the
automatic stay, the court must determine the damages to which the
debtors are entitled. Where a willful violation of the stay has
been found, compensatory damages are mandated. See In re Falls

Bldg. Ltd., 94 B.R. at 482; Matter of Mullarkey, 81 B.R. at 284.
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t the hearing on May L

st

resented

t]

rom =—he evidence

'

only actual damages sustained by cthe debtors, oth than
damaces previously awarded £y this court's May 4,
the additional garnished funds. Accordingly, the court Iinds that
the debtors are entitled to recover compensatory damages agalnst
Mr. Lufkin in the amount of $986.40, which sum represents the six
garnishment episodes which occurred between March 2 and May 11,
1994, at $164.40 each. Because all the garnished funds have been
returned to the debtors, however, the court deems this portion c:Z
the -“udgment satisfied. The only additional compensatory damages

I

to which the debtors are entitled to recover are their attorney’s

n

fees and expenses which have been incurred in connection with this
moticn. Debtors’ counsel shall have fourteen days within which to

file and serve upon Mr. Lufkin an affidavit detailing by date ana

time cthe services rendered and the fee and expenses resguested. Mr.

M

Lufkin will have ten days thereafter in which to cbject to ch

m

3

requested fee. Any objection will be heard at a date and tim
fixed by the court.

Debtors have also requested that punitive damages be imposed.
The determination of what willful violations of the stay warrant
the imposition of punitive damages is a matter left to the
discretion of the bankruptcy court. See, e.g., Allen v. Jim Walter
Homes, Inc. (In re Hartley), 75 B.R. 394, 401 (S.D. Ala. 1987),
judgment vacated upon settlement, 80 B.R. 230 (S.D. Ala. 1987) .

"[Plunitive damages are awarded in
response to particularly egregious conduct for
both punitive and deterrent purposes. Such
awards are "reserved ... for cases in which

20



*he defendant'’s conduct amounts tTo something

L

e B ol ¥ o e

more than a bare <wviclation ustifying
compensatory damages or injunctive relieZ.

|

To recover punitive damages, the defendant
must have acted with actual knowledge that :ze
was violating the federally protected rignht ¥
with reckless disregard of whether he was

doing so.

In r=2 Falls Bldg. L&td., %4 B.R. at 482, quoting In r= Wagner
g J g

B.R. at 903-504.

the opinion that an award of puni:tive damages

i

This court is ©
in this case is appropriate. Upon receiving a copy c:Z the court’s
March 21 order, Mr. Lufkin was effectively placed cn notice that

the costpetition garnishment was a viclation of the stay and that

some action needed to be taken to stop the garnisament. Tke

b
i

courz's March 21 memorandum opinion even cited the case of lenni
for -—he proposition that a "creditor’s attorney as ofIicer of court
has affirmative duty to stop garnishment process.”" Despite the
courz’s ruling, Mr. Lufkin consciously chose to take no action to
stop the garnishment, thereby allowing the garnisnment and the
resulting violation of the stay to continue. The stacements made
by Mr. Lufkin in his response to the present motion Zndicate that
he was more concerned about the expense which would ke placed upon
his contingency fee creditor’s practice and the fact that he would
not pe paid by his client if he undertook an affirmative act to
stop the garnishment than the resulting harm to the debtors if he
did not take any action to stop the garnishment. See Motion to Set
Aside Order of March 21, 1994 Under Rule 60 of the F.R.C.P. and
Response to Motion Filed April 20, 1994 by Special Appearance which
was filed by Mr. Lufkin on May 5, 1994.
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Mr. Lufkin asserts that since the court’s March Z. crder "dic
not =require either Northside Hospital or its attcrney to do
anything," he may be excused from his inactlions. The attcrney

cticned in Grosse also pieaded ignorance in failing o take any
acticn to stop a postpetition garnishment and dissolwz a writ cI
execution after his client was found in contempt for ~:iolating the
autcmatic stay and was ordered to pay in cerrorem damages for every
day in which the writ was not dissolved. Id. As in that case, this

court similarly finds such an argument dJdisingenucus since Mr.
Lufkin was apprised of the fact that the garnishment cZ Mrs. Timbs’
wages postpetition violated the automatic stay and, zv continuin
to remain inactive, put znot only his client but himseiI at risk.
Mr. Lufkin’s arrogance and disrespect Zcr the zautcmatic stay
as interpreted by this court is plainly demonst
Lufkin’s actions and statements after the ccurt entersd its March
21, 13294 memorandum opinion. Rather than taking the sppropriate
legal action which should be taken by a party upon its celief that
a court has decided an issue wrongly, which is to act in accordance
with the ruling but appeal to a higher court, Mr. Lulkin took no
action to stop the garnishment until almost two montzs later and
instead spent his time publicly criticizing the court’s ruling.
For example, in an April 21, 1994 letter to Charlotte McKeehan,
Clerk & Master of the Carter County Chancery Court, the county

wherein the judgment was obtained and the garnishment filed, Mr.

Lufkin stated:

I am somewhat concerned by a Bankruptcy Judge
thinking that I have an affirmative duty to

22



.. I am zorally without infcrmation and
‘speiief that the automatic stay

would reguire ne

r of a creditor ... It s

‘diculcus that ([sic] credicer

would have, tc zear the expense of legal fees,
time and money to do that which the debtor’s
[sic] attorney could have done for two twenty-

nine cent stamps.
a1 a letter to _ance Bracey, the head c¢f tze 3ocard ©

Profassional Responsibility of the Tennessee Supreme Zcurt, dated

4

April 28, 1994, Mr. Lufkin opined that the court’s ru.Z

21 was unethical and asked for a review of the matter zy the state
disc:rlinary bpoard as o ‘"whether or not this Iis proper Zor

ttorneys, whether federal judges or not, to be ordering creditor

aprors e
counsel to do something zhat so much benefits a debtor’s estate and
is adverse in interest zo the client we represent."> Similarly,

+»a moticn to set aside the court’s March 21, 19%4 crder which
Mr. _ufkin filed on May 3, 1994, he refers to the court’s ruling as

hearings as "meaningless under the law,"

n

"ludicrous," the court’
and states that "he remains defiant." When questicned at the
hearing as to whether he agreed that once the court ruled that

there was an affirmative duty that this ruling constituted the law

**Tncluded in the letter to Mr. Bracey is Mr. Lufkin’s
statement that the court’s opinion is a "fresh interpretation of
subsection 362 paragraph [sic] for the state of Tennessee." But
see In re O’Neal, 165 B.R. 859 (Bankr. M.D. Tenn. 1%94) ("courts
have widely held that a creditor with notice of a bankruptcy filing
whose inaction allows a pre-petition garnishment to proceed

unhindered postpetition violates the stay.")
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ne case, Mr. Lufkin’s rssponse was that "the hignher law—~ is

that iz is the debtor’'s respcnsibility to step the garnishment

Mr. _ufkin’s actions represent an arrcgance and deflance orf :the
autcmatic stay as interprerad by this court and warrant cthe
imposition of punitive damages in the amount of $5,000.23. "Where

ederal law’ is demonstrated, punitcive

ol
th

an 'arrogant defiance o1

t

damages are appropriate." Matter of Mullarkey, 81 =.X. at 284,
citirng Tel-A-Communications Ccnsultants, Inc. v. Autc-Use (In re
Tel-A-Communications Censultancs, Inc.), 50 3.R. 250, Z
D. Ccnn. 1985).

2n order will be entered in accordance with this memorandum.

2Y THE COURT

g Y
fﬁ%¢¢¢¢/ 2ot o~
MARCEFA PHILLIPS PARSONS
CNITED STATES BANKRUPTCY JUDGE

“Mr. Lufkin’'s reference to a "higher law" 1s disingenuous.
In neither of the two hearings held by this court, nor in any ot
the eight responses, motions, documents and letters Illed by Mr.
Lufkin in this matter, consisting of over 35 pages and numerous
arguments, does Mr. Lufkin cite a single case as authority :In
support of his contentions. When questioned by the court during
closing argument at the first hearing as to whether he had any
authority for his position, Mr. Lufkin stated that he was "relying
cn his fifteen years of experience." In response to guestioning by
the court at the May 17, 1994 hearing as to whether he engaged in
any research at any time to ascertain the status of law as to his
responsibilities as a creditor’s attorney once a bankruptcy has
been filed by a judgment debtor, Mr. Lufkin stated that he had
sought the advice of two respected bankruptcy attorneys as to the
"debtor’s attorney’'s responsibilities." There is no evidence that
Mr. Lufkin ever undertook any research to determine the extent of
his duties or those of his client. Cf. In re Falls Bldg. Ltd., 94
B.R. at 482 (punitive damages not imposed because attorneys
undertook legal research to determine applicability of the

automatic stay on their acticns).
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